NON-PRECEDENTIAL DECISION OKLAHOMA TAX COMMISSION

JURISDICTION: OKLAHOMA TAX COMMISSION DECISION
CITE: 2009-03-17-02 / NON-PRECEDENTIAL
ID: JM -08-010-H
DATE: MARCH 17, 2009
DISPOSITION: SUSTAINED
TAX TYPE: FORFEITURE AND DESTRUCTION
APPEAL: NO APPEAL TAKEN
ORDER

The above matter comes on for entry of afinal order of disposition by the Oklahoma Tax
Commission. Having reviewed the files and records herein, including the Findings of Fact,
Conclusions of Law and Recommendations made and entered by the Administrative Law Judge
on the 6th day of February, 2009, the Commission makes the following Findings of Fact and
Conclusions of Law and enters the following order.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On December 5, 2008, the Compliance Division of the Oklahoma Tax Commission filed
its Application for Order Forfeiting Seized Cigarettes and Directing the Destruction Thereof
(“Application™) with the Office of the Administrative Law Judge for proceedings consistent with
the Uniform Tax Procedure Code' and the Rules of Practice and Procedure Before the
Oklahoma Tax Commission.? Verification was attached to the Application, which was duly
sworn under oath, on behalf of the Division, by SUPERVISOR, Supervisor, Compliance
Division f/k/athe Collections Division, Oklahoma Tax Commission.

On December 9, 2008, a Notice to Show Cause Why the Application for Forfeiture of
Seized Cigarettes and Destruction Thereof Should Not Be Ordered (“Notice”) was sent by
certified mail to the Respondent and LLC aong with a copy of the Division's Application,
advising a show cause hearing had been set for January 15, 2009, at 1:30 p.m., at which time the
R&cpond3ent and LLC could appear and show cause why the Division’s Application should not be
granted.

The Show Cause Hearing was held as scheduled on January 15, 2009, at approximately
1:30 p.m. Neither the Respondent nor LLC appeared at the hearing.* The Division called one
(2) witness, SUPERVISOR, Supervisor, Compliance Division, Oklahoma Tax Commission, who

1 OKLA. STAT. ANN. tit. 68, § 201 et seq. (West 2001).

2 OKLA. ADMIN. CODE §§ 710:1-5-20 through 710:1-5-47.

% The notice was sent to the Respondent and LLC last known addresses by certified mail to SHOP
ADDRESS. The Respondent and LLC , through “SIGNEE,” signed the return receipts on December 10, 2008. See
OKLA. STAT.ANN.tit. 68, § 208 (West 2001).

* For the record, it was noted neither the Respondent nor LLC had contacted the Division or this office
concerning the hearing or failure to appear.
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testified regarding the Division’s Application, seizure and forfeiture procedures, and as custodian
of the Division's records. The Division's Exhibit A was identified, offered and admitted into
evidence. Upon conclusion of the hearing, the record was closed and the case was submitted for
decision on January 15, 20009.

FINDINGS OF FACT

Upon review of the file and records, including the record of the proceedings, the exhibit
received into evidence, and the Division’s Application, the undersigned finds:

1. The Respondent is a smoke shop located at SHOP ADDRESS (“Business Location”).
The Respondent’s Business Location is not in Indian Country. >

2. Prior to the Division's seizure on October 15, 2008, the Respondent had not applied
for or been issued alicense by the State of Oklahoma as aretailer of cigarettes.®

3. On October 15, 2008, the Division conducted a cigarette enforcement survey
(“Compliance Check”) at the Respondent’s Business Location. During the Compliance Check,
field representatives of the Division identified items offered for sale by the Respondent which
did not comply with the Oklahoma Cigarette Stamp Act (“Act”).” The items identified were
cigarettes bearing exception rate tax stamps ($.0575 per pack of twenty (20) cigarettes)® and
contraband cigarettes, which bore no Oklahoma cigarette tax stamps.

4. The Division’'s field representatives seized the cigarettes and SUPERV I SOR prepared
a seizure inventory list (“Inventory List”), which is signed by SUPERVISOR on behalf of the
Division and by SIGNEE on behalf of the Respondent. The “usual and ordinary price’*° of the
cigarettes seized was $34,484.22. 1

® Testimony of SUPERVISOR. See OKLA. ADMIN. CODE § 710:50-15-2(a)(1) (June 25, 2004), which
states:

"Indian Country" means and includes formal and informal reservations, dependent Indian
communities, and Indian allotments, the Indian titles to which have not been extinguished,
whether restricted or held in trust by the United States. [See: 18 U.S.C. § 1151]
® Testimony of SUPERVISOR. See OKLA. STAT. ANN. tit. 68, 304(B). If Respondent had been a licensed
retailer of cigarettes, the applicable rate for the Respondent’s location would have been the non-tribal rate of $1.03
per pack of twenty (20) cigarettes. See also OKLA. ADMIN. CODE § 710:70-2-9(c) (June 25, 2005).
" OKLA. STAT. ANN. tit. 68, § 301 et seq. (West 2001).
8 OKLA. ADMIN. CODE § 710:70-2-13(b)(2)(E) (June 25, 2006).
9 OKLA. STAT. ANN. tit. 68, § 360.7(B) (West Supp. 2009).
10 OKLA. STAT. ANN. tit. 68, § 360.7(C)(3) (West Supp. 2009).

1 Division's Exhibit A. The exhibit consists of an “Enforcement Survey” and Inventory List twelve (12)
pageslong. All pages are signed by SUPERVISOR and SIGNEE.
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5. SUPERVISOR filed the Enforcement Survey and Inventory List with the Division
and the seized cigarettes were labeled and stored in a secured area of the Tax Commission’s
Oklahoma City warehouse.*?

6. On October 16, 2008, LLC filed an application for a retail cigarette license with the
Tax Commission. On October 16, 2008, the license was issued to LLC, by the State of
Oklahoma, as aretailer of cigarettes at the Respondent’ s Business Location. *3

7. On December 5, 2008, the Division’s Application was fled with the Clerk of the
Court.

8. On December 9, 2008, the Notice along with a copy of the Division's Application was
sent to the Respondent and LLC by certified mail, return receipt requested. On December 10,
2008, the return receipts were signed by the Respondent and LLC, through “SIGNEE.” 14
CONCLUSIONSOF LAW

1. The Oklahoma Tax Commission is vested with jurisdiction over the parties and
subject matter of this proceeding. ™

12 Testimony of SUPERVISOR. The seized cigarettes are placed on a pallet, shrink wrapped, labeled, and

placed in “second level” storage by forklift. The area of the warehouse is not to open to the public and there is an
on-site guard.

13 Application at 2.
14 see Note 3.
15 OKLA. STAT. ANN. tit. 68, § 305(E)(2) (West Supp. 2009):

All such cigarettes so seized shall first be listed and appraised by the officer making such
seizure and turned over to the Tax Commission and a receipt therefor taken. The person
making such seizure shall immediately make and file a written report thereof, showing the
name of the person making such seizure, the place where and the person from whom such
property was seized, and an inventory and appraisement thereof, at the usual and ordinary
retail price of such articles received, to the Tax Commission, and the Attorney General, in the
case of cigarettes stamped, sold, offered for sale, or imported into this state in violation of the
provisions of Section 305.1 of thistitle. The Tax Commission shall then proceed to hear and
determine the matter of whether or not the cigarettes should, in fact, be forfeited to the State
of Oklahoma. The owner of the cigarettes shall be given at least ten (10) days' notice of the
hearing. In the event the Commission finds that the cigarettes should be forfeited to the State
of Oklahoma, it shall make an order forfeiting the cigarettes to the State of Oklahoma and
directing the destruction of such cigarettes.

OKLA. STAT.ANN.ftit. 68, § 360.7(C)(3) (West Supp. 2009):

All such cigarettes and tobacco products so seized shall first be listed and appraised by the
officer making such seizure and turned over to the Tax Commission and a receipt therefor
taken. The person making such seizure shall immediately make and file a written report
thereof, showing the name of the person making such seizure, the place where and the person
from whom such property was seized, and an inventory and appraisement thereof, at the usual
and ordinary retail price of such articles received, to the Tax Commission, and the Attorney
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2. Every retaler who has received cigarettes from a manufacturer, wholesaler, jobber,
warehouseman or distributor not required to secure a license as provided for under Section 304
of this title, or to affix stamps as required under subsection A of this section, shall, within
seventy-two (72) hours, excluding Sundays and holidays, from the time such cigarettes come
into the retailer's possession, and before making any sale or distribution for consumption thereof,
affix stamps upon al cigarette packages in the proper denomination and amount, as required by
Section 302 of thistitle.*®

3. All unstamped cigarettes upon which taxes are imposed by Section 301 et seq. of this
title ...which shall be found in the possession, custody, or control of any person, for the purpose
of being consumed, sold or transported from one place to another in this state, for the purpose of
evading or violating the provisions of Section 301 et seg. of this title, or with intent to avoid
payment of the tax imposed hereunder, ...where such cigarettes are found, may be seized by any
authorized agent of the Tax Commission, ...without process. The same shall be, from the time
of such seizure, forfeited to the State of Oklahoma, and a proper proceeding filed to maintain
such seizure and prosecute the forfeiture as herein provided.*’

4. “Contraband cigarettes’ means unstamped cigarettes which are required by the
provisions of Sections 348 through 351 of this title or Section 301 et seqg. of this title to bear
stamps and which are in the possession, custody or control of any person, for the purpose of
being consumed, sold, offered for sale or consumption or transported to any person in this state
other than a wholesaler licensed under Section 304 of this title; provided, contraband cigarettes
shall not include unstamped cigarettes sold to veterans hospitals, to state-operated domiciliary
homes for veterans or to the United States for sale or distribution by said entities in accordance
with Sections 321 through 324 of thistitle. 8

5. “Stamped cigarettes’ means packages of cigarettes which bear a tax stamp required
by state law.*°

General, in the case of cigarettes stamped, sold, offered for sale, or imported into this state in
violation of the provisions of Section 305.1 of this title and tobacco made contraband by this
section. The Tax Commission shall then proceed to hear and determine the matter of whether
or not the cigarettes and tobacco products should, in fact be forfeited to the State of

Oklahoma. The owner of the cigarettes and tobacco products shall be given at least ten (10)
days' notice of the hearing. In the event the Commission finds that the cigarettes and tobacco
products should be forfeited to the State of Oklahoma, it shall make an order forfeiting the
cigarettes and tobacco products to the State of Oklahoma and directing the destruction of such
cigarettes and tobacco products.

16 OKLA. STAT. tit. 68, § 305(B) (West Supp. 2008).
1T OKLA. STAT. tit. 68, § 305(E)(1) (West Supp. 2008).
18 OKLA. STAT. ANN. tit. 68, § 348(7) (West 2001).

19 OKLA. STAT. ANN. tit. 68, § 348(8) (West 2001).
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6. Effective January 1, 2005, the nontribal cigarette stamp tax rate is $1.03 per pack
and is applicable to all nontribal sales.®®

7. Any cigarettes that have been sold, offered for sale, or possessed for sale in this state
or imported for personal consumption in this state, in violation of the Master Settlement
Agreement Complementary Act, shall be deemed contraband pursuant to the Master Settlement
Agreement Complementary Act. Those cigarettes shall be subject to seizure and forfeiture as
provided by this section and all cigarettes so seized and forfeited shall be destroyed as provided
by this section and not resold.?*

8. On December 9, 2008, the Notice was sent to the Respondent and LLC by certified
mail, with return receipt requested, giving the Respondent and LLC the requisite ten (10) day
notice of the hearing held on January 15, 2009, at 1:30 p.m. The Respondent or LLC failed to
file aresponse to the Division’s Application or appear at the hearing.

9. The Division's representative, SUPERVISOR, properly prepared and filed an
Enforcement Survey and Inventory List, which reflects the Respondent’s Business Location as
the place of the seizure. The Enforcement Survey and Inventory List properly appraised the
cigarettes (at the usual and ordinary retail price), along with a receipt signed on behalf of the
Respondent, by SIGNEE, for the seized cigarettes.

10. The Enforcement Survey and Inventory List also properly describe the seized
cigarettes as being in violation of the Act and the Master Settlement Agreement Complementary
Act.

11. The Claimant’s Business Location is not located in Indian Country and did not have a
license as aretailer of cigarettes issued by the State of Oklahoma.

12. The statutory cigarette stamp tax rate for the Claimant’s Business Location is the non
tribal rate of $1.03 per pack and is applicable to all non-tribal sales.

13. The seized cigarettes include unstamped cigarettes, improperly stamped cigarettes
and contraband cigarettes, which are in violation of the Act and the Master Tobacco Settlement
Agreement Complementary Act.

14. In al proceedings before the Tax Commission, the taxpayer has the burden of proof,
unless provided by law.?? In this matter, the Division filed the Application seeking the forfeiture
and destruction of the seized cigarettes, shifting the burden of proof to the Division.??

20 OKLA. ADMIN. CODE § 710:70-2-9(c) (June 25, 2005).
2L OKLA. STAT. tit. 68, 360.7 (West Supp. 2008).

2 See OKLA. ADMIN. CODE § 710:1-5-47 (June 25, 1999). See also OKLA. ADMIN. CODE § 710:1-5-77(b)
(June 25, 1999).

23 See Enterprise Management Consultants, Inc. v. Sate ex rel Oklahoma Tax Com'n, 1988 OK 91, 768 P.2d
359.
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15. The Division has met its burden of proof that the Application should be granted, and
the seized cigarettes on the Inventory List should be forfeited to the State of Oklahoma and
destroyed.

ORDER

The cigarettes seized October 15, 2008 from RESPONDENT are ordered forfeited to the
State of Oklahoma, and the Division is directed to destroy such cigarettes pursuant to law.

OKLAHOMA TAX COMMISSION

CAVEAT: This decision was NOT deemed precedential by the Commission. This means that the legal conclusions
are generally applicable or are limited in time and/or effect. Non-precedential decisions are not considered binding
upon the Commission. Thus, similar issues may be determined on a case-by-case basis.
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